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The Yankee Hill Dispatch is published one time per year. In each issue we include 
an article about the area’s history. We also publish the Yankee Hill Newsletter two 
times per year. A smaller publication with some history and articles about what 
the Yankee Hill Historical society is doing.

1850 to 1859 was a time when gold seekers were fl ooding to Butte County. Nelson Bar, Rich Gulch, 
Frenchtown, Spanishtown, and Yankee Hill were mining areas that got their start during this time. It is 
diffi cult to understand the relationship between these areas during this time because the records available 
are scarce. The 1850 census lists the name, age, place of birth, and profession of people in Butte County, 
but it does not identify where they were located within the county. Mining claims were not recorded in 
the records of the county until 1852, prior to that they were a notice attached to a tree or a post at the 
site only. The fi rst newspaper in the county, the Butte Record was not established at Bidwell Bar until 
1853. The tax records, which for the fi rst several years, identify only a small fraction of the people in 
the county, were not available until 1857. Because of this, the 1882 history of Butte County, at least for 
this area, really starts at 1860 with some anecdotes from earlier times. The section on Concow Township 
(there was no town of Concow, it’s just the center of the Township), which includes Yankee Hill, only 
gives a brief mention to the above areas as former names associated with the history of Yankee Hill.
But by consulting all these records along with maps of the period and the brief anecdotes 
in the 1882 history of Butte County, you can piece together a better understanding of the 
relationships between these areas, which is the subject of this newsletter. The accompanying 
land ownership maps offer information about later development of the area as well.

For more information, read the April 2008 Yankee Hill Dispatch on Yankee Hill. This article does contradict 
some of the information about how Michael Wells acquired the Yankee Hill Hotel and when he was postmaster. 
This current article supersedes that information. Also, the April 2010 Yankee Hill Dispatch on Spanishtown adds 
some interesting insights to the short lived town. Both articles can be read online at www.yankeehillhistory.com 

Please note that spellings of some names, places, and buildings vary throughout this article, 
as the original spellings from each source were maintained for historical preservation.
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1862 Map shows areas that were divided into numbered sections for better location identifi cation on 
county deeds. Big Bend area had not yet been formally surveyed,  the shape of the river would change.

By December 1852, men had ventured inland and were mining at Rich Gulch and Frenchtown. The same 
day as the following Daily Alta California article, another appeared in the San Francisco Alta California 
about the Chief of the Concow Indians being hanged at Pence’s Ranch after he bragged of killing people 
while in Frenchtown. 

The Paths to Yankee Hill

By late 1850, many people were searching for gold along the Feather River in this area. On the West 
Branch, Benjamin Nelson, Asa Wheeler, and James White were mining at Nelson Bar in October 1850. 
Many others soon followed. On the North Fork below what we call today Big Bend, James Shield was 
mining at Shield’s Gulch, and just up the river William and Robert Lattimore were mining at Lattimore’s 
bar. Farther up the bend in the North Fork of the Feather River, Giles and Barton Hough were mining at 
Hough’s Bar. Many others would follow these men as well. 



2

About this same time, James and John Peairs arrived in the area. They would establish a 320-acre ranch and 
build a ditch and reservoir at Frenchtown. The locals called it the “Pierce Boys Ditch.” The tax records for 
1857 indicate the Peairs Boys had 2 horses, 71 head of cattle, 25 hogs, and had made $600 in improvements 
to their place in 1857. It is possible it was the Peairs Boys who named the place Frenchtown, since they 
were its largest land holders at the time.
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By March 1854, J.I. Steward had a store in Frenchtown, where a meeting was held about the problems 
with miners harassing the local Indian women who were looking for food in the cold winter months. A 
proclamation from Steward and other residents of the area was printed in the Butte Record at the time 
demanding protection for the Indians.

Frenchtown, OR, Township, February 14, 1854, Butte Record, Oroville, CA

At a meeting called by the miners and friends of humanity in Frenchtown and 
vicinity held at the store of J. I. Stewart (Steward) & Co. for the purpose of taking 
into consideration the content of those men or fi ends in human nature, who are 
in the habit of committing outrages upon the Indian women of this vicinity, the 
meeting was called to order by L. C. Goodman, Esq. F. Y. Johnson, was chosen 
President, and Edward Pope appointed Secretary.

It was moved that a committee of three be appointed to draft resolutions 
expressive of the sense of the meeting, whereupon L. C. Goodman, James McKay, 
and James Cannon were appointed as such committee. On motion, T. E. Cannon 
of Spring Valley was added to the committee. 

The committee after retiring for a few moments reported the following 
preamble and resolutions, which were unanimously adopted: 

Whereas, the peace and quietude of this neighborhood has been disturbed by 
the frequent outrages committed on the Indian women by lawless characters – and 

Whereas, the Indians have been driven from their ranches and have come 
into the cabins of the miners with their feet frozen and nearly famished. And 
whereas, even children, from ten to twelve years of age, have not been spared by 
these fi ends in human shape – Therefore, we, the citizens of this community in 
meeting assembled, do 

Resolve, that complaint be made before a Justice of the Peace, against all 
those persons when proof can be had that warrants may be issued for their arrest. 
Be it further 

Resolved, that if the civil law cannot reach such offense to meet out to them 
the punishment their crimes so justly merit – that we, after due trial of the law, will 
feel ourselves in duty bound, to take the law into our own hands, however severely 
we may deprecate such a course. Be it further 

Resolved, that the District Attorney be requested to use all just and legal 
means in his power to convict those who may be sent before the proper court for 
trial. And be it further 

Resolved, that we will support the offi cers in enforcing the law and each 
other in carrying out these measures. 

Resolved, the proceedings of this meeting be published in the “Butte 
Record.” 

On motion the meeting adjourned.
F. Y. Johnson, President                                                     Edward Pope, Secretary

The miners and Indians in this area appear to have achieved some level of mutual understanding as there 
are only a few mention of incidents between the two in this area until 1863.
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In March 1854, the Butte Record reported that Rich Gulch and Frenchtown diggings were doing well 
although not reporting any large strikes. In December it was reported that the Frenchtown and Rich Gulch 
Mining Company Ditch was complete.

In 1855, Enoch Miller and his brother Thomas, German immigrants, moved to Frenchtown. Enoch was 
a butcher by trade, and he remained in Frenchtown until 1862 when he left for Cincinnati, the place he 
resided in before coming to California. Enoch sold his business in Frenchtown to James Williams and 
James Voght, both from Germany.

Meanwhile, in June of 1855, Charles Stubbs Curtis moved to land on the opposite side of the Feather River 
from Frenchtown at Nelson Bar. Curtis had been in Butte Creek Canyon mining since 1851. That same 
month William Gwynn of Marysville started a lime kiln just down the road from Curtis at what is today 
called Lime Saddle. Gwynn sold his lime in Cherokee at Moore and Perry’s Store.

Soon after arriving, Charles Curtis established a ferry business at Nelson Bar ferrying passengers across 
the Feather River to Frenchtown. Prior to that time, people forded the Feather River about a mile and a half 
down the road at what was called “Natural Crossing”. Curtis’s ferry was a more direct route to Frenchtown 
from Pentz or the Paradise Ridge. The 1856 tax records assessed the value of Curtis’s ferry at $500. The 
ferry would prove to be a timely investment for Curtis, 1856 would bring a period of rapid growth around 
Frenchtown. 

                 1856 

In July 1856, Francis Malin would sell his house on the Nelson Bar wagon road near Frenchtown to Charles 
Smith for $200. In August 1858, Smith sold the same house for $1200.

In late 1856, a new town was starting just a mile up the road over the hill from Frenchtown called 
Spanishtown, and the Frenchtown and Spanishtown area was starting to get attention in Oroville.

Oroville, Northern Californian, September 10, 1856

 “Spanishtown is going ahead very rapidly. There have been thirteen fi ne new 
buildings put up in the last three weeks in the town and immediate vicinity. There are 
a number of others in the course of erection, but the diffi culty we fi nd is the want of 
lumber. There is no sawmill for fourteen miles, though we have now made arrangements 
with Mr. Nance of Dry Creek Mills to establish a lumber yard here. He has four ox 
teams daily hauling lumber, and there will soon be plenty for all to build. You would 
say this was a young Oroville, to hear the sound of the hammer and saw. The ditch so 
long talked of will be in full operation next week. If we had the water here now, with the 
diggings that we have, I will venture to say that there would be more gold taken from 
this precinct this winter than from any other in Butte County. There is a company of 
Chilenos just below our town that take out daily from three to fi ve ounces to the hand. 
There is an old colored man that has been mining here that took out a little over seven 
hundred dollars as his share in three weeks’ work, and then he sold out his claim and 
went below to get his wife. Yesterday he prospected the same ground to show his wife 
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the prospect, and washed out eleven dollars the fi rst pan. We have but one American lady 
living in this vicinity, Mrs. Marquis. She washed out one pan of dirt yesterday and got 
one dollar thirty-seven and one-half cents. We have a daily stage from Oroville running 
here. There have been quite a number of persons here in the last four weeks who have 
good claims recorded. This is a new place, and the diggings here were fi rst struck last 
winter by a company of Chilenos and Mexicans. The town is situated on Spanish Ravine, 
which empties into Chub Gulch. These and Blair’s Ravine are considered the richest 
diggings. Our town is twenty miles from Oroville and one mile from Frenchtown. We 
had two gentlemen to call on us yesterday who came in a buggy, the fi rst buggy that 
was ever seen in this part of the country. There is a good mountain road from Pence’s 
Ranch to the place. Mr. Snyder, Mr. Pierce and Mr. Reed have been sinking a shaft on 
what is called Yankee Hill for hill digging.”

Butte Record, September 23, 1856

An article in the October 21st addition of the Oroville Daily Register mentioned the Golden Gate Hotel run 
by Carry and McClellan in Spanishtown was now full.

On November 1st, 1856, C.H. Turner, S.S. Snyder, J.R. Beckmith, J.H. White, Jack H. Branson, Frank Houser, 
J.R. Simpson, and John Verjan fi led a claim for the Virgin Quartz Mining Company. The name implies 
Verjan found the claim and the others were either working partners or fi nancial backers. Consequently, 
Verjan may not have been the largest shareholder.

On November 14th, 1856, M.H. Wells, J.C. Johnson, F.H. Pratt, J.D. Pollard, E.G. Green, J. Anderson, G.L. 
Dockler, John Conner, Daniel Ring, and H. Marco fi led a claim by the 49 Mining Co. and the 56 Quartz 
Mining Co. The claim would be known as the 49 & 56 Claim.

Both of these claims were on the Rich Gulch Quartz Ledge and were hard rock claims where they tunneled 
for gold. The ledge was located at the base of a hill below what would later be known as Yankee Hill. The 



6

gold in Rich Gulch found in 1853 had washed out from this ledge.

Michael Wells, one of the 49 & 56 founders to whom the history books attribute the founding of Yankee 
Hill, came to the area in 1856. In an article in the papers written in May 1882, the Oroville Mercury states 
Mr. Wells fi rst lived in Spanishtown. 

About this time, James Monroe Smith, his wife Mary, and daughter Nancy came to Frenchtown from Dogtown 
(Magalia) where he owned a store. He had been in the Rich Gulch area in 1852 when he fi rst arrived from 
North Carolina looking for gold, but did not stay. (Smith settled in the area near the intersection of today’s 
Nelson Bar and Lunt Roads.) The Smith home was across from the Peairs Boys ranch and ditch mentioned 
earlier on the Nelson Bar wagon road. Smith does not appear in the late 1850s tax records, so his presence 
in Frenchtown at fi rst must have been modest. 

Understanding the Early (1850s and 1860s) Tax Records for Butte County

The tax records for Butte County that still exist start in 1857. The records list acres of 
property owned, the value of the property, the value of improvements made that tax 
year on the property, the various livestock owned, and the value of household furnish-
ings and jewelry owned (primarily gold jewelry). The acres owned and value were 
taken from formal deeds fi led at the county offi ces. So there was not a lot of incentive 
to fi le a deed, thus avoiding taxes, unless you were worried about someone claiming 
your land. This was not an issue in many of the rural areas, as land was plentiful in the 
early 1850s. But the tax collector could visit the area and see your dwelling and any 
cattle, sheep, or hogs you had and collect taxes. If the dwelling had previously existed, 
it would not be taxed because they only taxed improvements made in the current tax 
year. The livestock, if they saw it, would be taxed each year. Household furnishing and 
gold jewelry would also depend on if they saw it or you were honest enough to mention 
it. Once you were on the tax rolls they would follow up each year to see if there were 
any changes. In the case of a person who had a house that he or she built or expanded 
in the current tax year, but no title for land, the improvements were usually assessed at 
$50 to $150, with most in the $100 range. If a dwelling was not a permanent structure, 
as with a tent, it would not be assessed. Consequently, there are few people listed in 
the Rich Gulch, Frenchtown, Spanishtown, and Yankee Hill tax records, perhaps 25% 
of the population, or about 100 people or corporations (usually mining ventures, cat-
tlemen, a mill, store, or other establishment owners) in the late 1850’s. Obviously the 
tax records for Oroville, which was the county seat and consisted of primarily perma-
nent structures with many business owners, were more complete than the records for 
this area. It wasn’t until the 1870s and 80s in rural areas that the tax records became 
more comprehensive as people started fi ling large land patents and homesteads, usu-
ally because they wanted to sell their property and the new owner wanted legal title.

In the November 1856 presidential election, Frenchtown cast 133 votes, while Spanishtown cast 253 votes. 
Yankee Hill was not a voting district in 1856, so the miners cast their votes at Frenchtown or Spanishtown.

The papers in November also mention the Pioneer Hotel in Spanishtown. The following month in December 
an add ran for the new Union Hotel in Spanishtown.
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1856 would close with the Frenchtown Canal and Mining Co. advertising they were holding a meeting in 
January in Marysville to expand their stock offering to $60,000. The trustees were M. Fuller, C.C. Addison, 
O.M. Evans, and W.S. Watson. They were all businessmen, none from the immediate area.

1857

In February 1857, a post offi ce was opened in J.I. Steward’s store in Frenchtown. That same month, an 
article was published about Spanishtown. A portion of the article by Philus Julius, a pseudonym, describes 
the town. 

“Last July there were no frame structures, now there are three hotels, eight billiard saloons, four 
dance houses, three stables and numerous stores and private residences. A number of worthy ladies, 
the wives and relatives of the better class of citizens, now abide in Spanishtown. A number of people 
have now pulled up stakes to go to the rich diggins of Helltown and Dogtown.”

In March 1857, the Industry Quartz Mine was established at Yankee Hill. 

“We the undersigned claim eleven claims 150 Ft each of this quartz ledge now known as the Rich 
Gulch Quartz Ledge commencing at this notice and following the meanderings of the ledge, also 
suffi cient ground for working the same. The above claim commences at an oak stump about 100ft 
South of Butte Ravine and runs North on the ledge 1500 feet to an oak tree blazed on two sides 
near the top of Yankee Hill, March 6, 1857. S. D. Hasey, Capt Hasey, E.K. Dodge, G. Dodge, John 
Rollings, C. Billing, J.M. Feney, A. Snook, A.H. Nelson, G. Rung, F.J. Wilbun.”

In March 1857, the Frenchtown Canal and Mining Company purchased the Peairs Boys ditch and reservoir 
in Frenchtown for $200, and the Frenchtown Ditch owned by a Mr. Chabot, who lived in San Francisco, 
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for $500. The ditch ran from Deadwood Creek to the mining regions in the area. With the purchase they 
also acquired Chabot’s surveys for an extension of the ditch to the East Branch of the West Branch of the 
Feather River.

Things were busy in the area but in April 1857 there were signs of a slowdown based on an article in the 
North Californian. 

“Spanishtown April 25th, the town is dull the last several months because while the diggins are rich 
they unfortunately require water to work them. But after months of waiting, June 1st the ditch is 
promised to be complete.”

The Frenchtown ditch had not been extended to Spanishtown yet. 

Meanwhile at Nelson Bar, Charles Curtis had announced he was going to renew his ferry license and also build 
a bridge at Nelson Bar. Unfortunately for Curtis, O.M. Evans, one of the investors in the Frenchtown Canal and 
Mining Company, also announced he would build a bridge and grade a road from Cherokee to the diggings at 
Yankee Hill across the West Branch of the Feather River, at the site of the “Natural Crossing” mentioned earlier.

In September 1857, a new town name appears on a deed for the sale of Hastings Trading Post in Monte Vista. The 
deed states Monte Vista was formerly called Yankee Hill. Philip McRae purchased the Hastings Trading Post. 
He had drawn up a plat plan for the town of Monte Vista in March, and fi led the plat plan in November 1857.
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 In October 1857, an article states the Frenchtown Canal and Mining Company had 20 miles of ditch valued 
at $23,000. It also states the Virgin Quartz Mill, a steam powered mill, was paying $30 to $40 per ton and the 
assessed value of their equipment was $9,000. The 49 & 56 Quartz Company, also a steam powered mill, had 
recently made $10,000 in improvements to their operation. Both mining companies were listed as being at Monte 
Vista. McRae would also buy the ditch that ran from above Dogtown to Cherokee for $1500 in December 1857.

The mining companies located at Yankee Hill above the Rich Gulch Ledge would soon appear to be 
overshadowed by the new town of Monte Vista.  

1858

J.I. Steward of Frenchtown appears to have purchased the Pioneer Hotel in Spanishtown in late 1857. 
He made $500 in improvements to the hotel in 1858. He also appears to have abandoned his store in 
Frenchtown as the post offi ce was closed by December 1857. 

In February 1858, a reservoir had been established at Spanishtown by the Frenchtown Canal and Mining 
Company, but it burst in the heavy rains and wiped out everything in the water’s path. The losses to the 
company were large.

In March and April of 1858, all the shares in the Industry Quartz Mine were sold to G.F. Whiteman. The 
Industry Quartz Mine was involved in a dispute between its owners prior to the sale. Whiteman would 
call his operation Whiteman’s Mill located at the 49 & 56 Quartz Ledge near the south end of the Virgin 
Quartz Ledge. The Industry Company name and reference to the Rich Gulch Quartz Ledge were dropped 
by Whiteman.

In July 1858, F.E. Cannon, who lived between Cherokee and Oregon City (Cannon Reservoir still marks 
the site) sold the 320-acre ranch he acquired in Frenchtown from the Peairs Brothers when they left the 
area that same year to John Pringle for $100.

In August 1858, Charles Smith sold the house on the Nelson Bar Wagon Road for $1200, as mentioned 
earlier. 

In October 1858, the post offi ce was reestablished at Yankee Hill, probably in the offi ces of one of the two 
mining companies operating there. The name of the post offi ce was offi cially the Yankee Hill Post Offi ce. 
The fi rst postmaster was James J. Billings, followed by Hiram M. Clemons in March 1859. Clemons would 
be the postmaster until 1864.

In December 1858, the Butte Record reported the 49 & 56 Mine took out in three days approximately 
800 pounds of gold. They stated that it appeared the company had struck a vein of decomposed quartz of 
remarkable richness. This was the largest single payload of gold in the mine’s history.

Meanwhile at Nelson Bar, Curtis had completed his bridge, and his home, land, and the bridge were assessed 
at $2000. It is worth noting an article in the papers about Butte County taxes, which usually did not list 
incomes, said the income for Curtis in 1858 was estimated at $1500 to $2000.

In 1858, O.M. Evans had also built his bridge across the West Branch of the Feather River. 
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1859

Michael Wells was still involved with the 49 & 56 Mining operation; he had established a store with $300 
in merchandise, according to the 1859 tax records. He did not own any property in his name. Was his store 
in the 49 & 56 company offi ces along with the post offi ce? It is impossible to tell, but probable.

What was certain is that the post offi ce offi cially being named the Yankee Hill Post Offi ce secured the 
name for the area.

But things were slowing down in 1859. The single independent miner was slowly becoming a thing of the 
past. McRae did manage to sell a few lots in Monte Vista, but it was not going well. In December 1859, 
he sold S.D. Hasey, formerly with the Industrial Quartz Mine, a lot on Third Street for $800. But in 1861 
his lots were selling for $50, if at all.

In December 1859, the Union Hotel in Spanishtown was insolvent. J.H. Marple bought it at auction for 
$10 and sold it to H.H. Hobart, a judge in Oroville, for $25 three days later. It turns out the Union Hotel 
was not actually in Spanishtown at all, but rather located at Yankee Hill. The Spanishtown gold rush had 
caused the local papers to generally refer to the entire area as Spanishtown. It ended up the 49 & 56 Mining 
Company used the hotel as a bunk house for the employees.

J.I Steward, who had purchased the Pioneer Hotel in Spanishtown, was the proprietor of the Cherokee Hotel 
in 1860. The Pioneer Hotel is not mentioned anymore after that. The history of the Golden Gate Hotel is 
also unclear, but it too closed down.

1860

Michael Wells & Co. built a store in Yankee Hill per the tax records; it was assessed at $500. The July 1860 
Census lists 9 empty cabins in Yankee Hill and 11 empty cabins at Spanishtown. That same month, G.F. 
Whiteman sold the machinery and boiler from his Whiteman’s Mill in Yankee Hill to W.D. Shallcross in 
exchange for the release from a $1100 note and $500 cash. It appears the equipment was sold for salvage. 

1861

In May 1861, McRae sold Hannah Pringle of Frenchtown a 68 ft. x 60 ft. lot in Monte Vista for $50. 
The original town plat said the lots would be 80 ft. x 160 ft., but perhaps that is all she could afford. Her 
husband, John Pringle, had died in January. She was planning on selling the property in Frenchtown and 
perhaps she was preparing for a future place to live if needed. In July 1861, she did sell the 320 acres in 
Frenchtown for $300 to John Nash. Before John died, Hannah’s husband, the Pringles had a house, butcher 
shop, barn, and corral with 22 cows, 380 sheep, and 40 hogs. Frenchtown was a successful ranching area 
since its beginning.

In October 1861, the Virgin Quartz Mill at Yankee Hill burned to the ground. Some thought it was arson 
as the mill had not run for the two weeks prior. (In 1866 the mine was reopened as the Venus Quartz Mine, 
but met with minimal success.)
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Nelson Bar, Frenchtown, and Yankee Hill Continue On

By 1862, Spanishtown was, for all practical purposes, gone. The miners left and the reputation for 
violence in Spanishtown had tarnished its image. The area was commonly referred to as Frenchtown or 
Yankee Hill. Monte Vista was also a thing of the past that never really got off the ground, it did however 
appear on the 1862 Butte County map.

Nelson Bar - Meanwhile at Nelson Bar, Charles Curtis and his brother Joseph Curtis continued to operate the 
ferry and the bridge. Sometime in the early 1860s, they also tried their hand at producing lime by building 
a single kiln nearby. Gwynn’s lime operation, just down the road at Lime Saddle, was now burning three 
kilns. The Curtis kiln would later close for 10 years before opening again in 1875 for a brief period. The 
Gywnn lime kilns would eventually be purchased by Augustine Parrish, who operated them until 1900.
The Curtis home is not marked by a house, bridge, or lime kiln anymore, but rather by the olive trees along 
Pentz Road, which were planted in 1882. Joseph Curtis was a very successful grower who owned the 
third oldest olive grove in Butte County. In 1883 the Curtis family did approach the county about futher 
reimbursements of nearly $4,000 for constructing the Nelson Bar Bridge which had washed out twice in 
heavy rains and grading the road to Frenchtown, but the claim was denied. The county had already taken 
over maintaining the West Branch Bridge constructed by O.M. Evans a mile and a half down river. In 1903 
the wooden Nelson Bar Bridge washed out again and the county replaced it with a steel bridge.
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Frenchtown – In 1866, Lorenzo Feist had a 15-acre home on the hill in what was part of old Spanishtown. 
He sold the place to Theodore Busch, who had been living at Rock Creek prior to that. Busch also was 
given the rights to 1000 yards of mining claims along Chub Gulch, and 40 sluice boxes that Feist owned, 
the price of which was $500. In 1870, Busch would marry Nancy Smith, James Monroe Smith’s daughter 
from Frenchtown. In 1872, they had a son, Albert Franklin Busch. Theodore Busch, Nancy’s husband died 
around 1875. 

In 1874, Anton Hodapp settled on 160 acres on Nelson Bar Road. There he established Hodapp Ranch, 
where he and his family lived. Anton died in 1898. His son Emil Hodapp continued to live on the ranch 
until the late 1940’s. 

In 1875, Edwin R. Lunt came to Frenchtown. Edwin was the fi rst teacher at Concow School, which was 
built in 1875. He married Nancy (Smith) Busch in 1877. In 1883, he purchased 40 acres from the Central 
Pacifi c Railroad for $90 and built a home, which still stands on Nelson Bar Road today. The Lunt family 
still owns the property.

In 1886, James Monroe Smith from Frenchtown died at the Deadwood hospital, located on the Tebbe 
property. Albert Busch, his grandson, moved into his home on Nelson Bar Road near what is now called 
Lunt Road. Albert Busch died in 1934 and the property was taken over by his mother, Nancy (Busch/Smith) 
Lunt. His stepdad, Edwin R. Lunt, had died in 1903. The Lunt family would continue to add to their land 
holdings on Nelson Bar Road over the years. 
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Enoch Miller’s brothers, Wendell and Joseph Miller, returned to Frenchtown in the 1870’s. They later 
purchased land in Frenchtown, 120 acres in 1883 and 120 acres in 1886 and operated a butcher shop selling 
the meat in their shop in Cherokee. In time, the Miller brothers would own over 4000 acres in Butte County. 
The brothers died in 1901 and 1908 respectively. In 1907  Wendell Miller’s estate sold 40 acres  on Nelson 
Bar Road to Butte Williams, whose family still lives on the land. In 1917 the Miller estate sold 200 acres 
across the road to Lyman Brown. The two story Miller home built on that propery in 1883 burned in 2000.
 
Lorenzo Feist, an early resident of Spanishtown bought 80 acres on Nelson Bar Road in 1883, next to 
Hodapp Ranch, which he purchased from the Central Pacifi c Railroad. His Nephew, Andrew Armbruster, 
lived with Lorenzo and his wife, Theresa. Theresa Feist died in 1894 and Lorenzo Feist in 1902. Both are 
buried in the Yankee Hill Cemetery. Andrew Armbruster continued to operate the family farm until his death 
in 1935. Andrew sold his 80 acre propertry to the Lunt family for $1,600 only months before his death.

Yankee Hill – Michael Wells bought the Union Hotel at Yankee Hill from W.W. Hobart in 1864 for $1000. 
He became postmaster the same year. The 49 & 56 Mine was abandoned in 1866. In 1883, he added a 
second hotel building. Wells would fi le a Homestead application in 1889 claiming the surrounding area, 
71 acres. Wells died in 1891, at the time he had over 200 acres. His wife Dora Wells closed the store in 
the 1920’s and operated the hotel, living upstairs until her death in 1936. The Hoefl ing Brothers acquired 
the property with the old house, store, old Union Hotel and the 2nd 1883 hotel building after her death. 
Included in the sale was the deed for the Venus Quartz Mine, which was the old Virgin Mine, which the 
Hoefl ing Brothers tried to sell in 1945, unsuccessfully.

Where exactly was the town of Monte Vista supposed to be? Probably on Yankee Hill Road in the fl at 
between the Yankee Hill Cemetery and Lunt Road. More research must be done to uncover this mystery. 
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The wife of Joseph G. Curtis, Lucy Augusta Beale Curtis taught school at Messilla Valley School in 
the 1880’s. In 1886 she submitted a short story to the San Francisco Overland Monthly which was 
published in December that year. The attached story is charming but mostly fi ction.
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YHHS Happenings
Yankee Hill Historical Society
P.O. Box 4031
Yankee Hill, Ca 95965

“Dedicated to Preserving Our Local History”
Visit Our Web Page @ www.yankeehillhistory.com

Yankee Hill Historical Society Web Page: You can visit our web page at www.yankeehillhistory.
com. The web page has copies of some of the newspaper articles used as reference in this newsletter article, 
so you can read them for yourself!

It’s Time to Renew! If your mailing label says 2014 or earlier, please use the enclosed membership 
renewal form. Your membership helps support this newsletter and other activities of the Yankee Hill His-
torical Society. If you recieve this newsletter via email please see the body of the email for notifi cation  if 
your dues are due. Thank you!

Annual General Meeting this October! The annual general meeting will be held Saturday, October 
17th, 2015 at 10 a.m. at the Old Pulga Schoolhouse in Pulga off of highway 70. The presentation will be 
on the history of Pulga. Carpooling is encouraged, as parking is limited. We hope to see you there!

Photo Archives: We are always looking for old photos we can scan for our digital archives. We are 
looking for old photos of  Pulga, the Rock House, Scooters and Grandview on Highway 70.
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